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ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


Petitioner Michael Keith Allman ("Petitioner") asserts three assignments of errors. First, 

he contends that his sentence for the crime of felony escape is disproportionate to the offense for 

which he was convicted. Second, he contends that the circuit court erred in permitting the State 

of West Virginia (the "State") to elect to proceed on the escape and destruction of property 

charges prior to the grand larceny charge. Third, he contends that the circuit court erred in 

failing to grant a new trial on the escape and destruction of property charges when subsequent 

counsel discovered exculpatory evidence. Each of his claims are without merit. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Grand Larceny Charge and Escape 

On December 31, 2014, the State charged Petitioner with committing grand larceny in 

Wood County, West Virginia. (Appendix [hereinafter "App."] Vol. II at 165). Specifically, the 

Criminal Complaint alleged that on December 24, 2014, Petitioner went to the "Tornado 

Express" Laundromat in Parkersburg, West Virginia. (Id.). In the parking lot, Petitioner 

removed a purse-which contained $225 in cash, an engagement ring valued at $1992.64, two 

golden rings, a checkbook, and other miscellaneous items-from the vehicle of the victim, 

Heather Kirk. Patrolman Beniah Depue "observed the [Petitioner] on surveillance entering and 

leaving the vehicle of the [v ]ictim." (Id.). He made contact with Petitioner at his residence. 

(Id.). Petitioner turned over two rings and checks (with the name of the victim). (Id.). The 

Criminal Complaint stated that "[w]hile being questioned, the [Petitioner] admitted to the theft of 

the purse." (Id.). 

On May 13, 2015, the circuit court entered an Order Requiring Home Incarceration as a 

Condition of Bond. (App. Vol. II at 168). The Order required that Petitioner remain at his 



approved residence; not violate any laws of any State, county, municipality or of the United 

States of America; and not consume or have in his presence any illegal substance or alcohol. 

(Id.). Furthermore, the Order provided that if Petitioner violated any provision, he would be 

taken into custody and committed to the North Central Regional Jail for further proceedings 

provided by W. Va. Code § 62-11B-9. (Id. at 169). 

On July 1,2015, the State moved to revoke Petitioner's home confinement. (App. Vol. I 

at 11). The State's motion alleged that Petitioner cut off his home monitoring bracelet and left 

his approved residence. (Id.). The State further alleged that, when Petitioner was finally 

apprehended outside of his home, he was taken into custody and transported to the Wood County 

Holding Center. (Jd.). While at the Holding Center, Petitioner told the Holding Center 

personnel that he had "taken some nerve pills and heroin earlier." (!d.). Petitioner was then 

taken to Camden Clark Medical Center for medical clearance. (Jd.). The hospital took a urine 

specimen for testing. (Id.). Petitioner told the staff at the hospital that "he had done heroin 

before he went to bed last night and taken some klonopin that was not prescribed to him." (!d.). 

Petitioner obtained medical clearance and returned to the Holding Center for confinement. (Id.). 

In further support of the motion, the State alleged that Petitioner violated several terms of his 

home confinement, including, that he left his home for a non-approved reason, consumed illegal 

substances and/or alcohol, and removed his home monitoring bracelet. (App. Vol. I at 11-12). 

On August 17, 2015, Petitioner appeared in circuit court upon the State's Motion to 

Revoke Home Confinement. (Id. at 6). At the hearing, Petitioner admitted to the allegations in 

the Motion to Revoke Home Confinement. (Id.). The circuit court found that Petitioner had 

"been advised of and under [ stood] his rights, along with the allegations in the Motion" and that 

Petitioner "voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waive[d] his Constitutional Rights and 
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admit[ted] to the violations of his home confinement." (Id.). Therefore, it granted the Motion 

and revoked Petitioner's bond and remanded him to custody. (ld.). 

2. Motion to Sever 

Thereafter, on September 17, 2015, Petitioner was indicted on three (3) counts: (1) 

"grand larceny" in violation of W. Va. Code § 61-3-13; (2) escape by persons in custody of 

institutions or officers" in violation ofW. Va. Code § 61-5-10; (3) "destruction of property" in 

violation of W. Va. Code § 61-3-30. (App. Vol. I at 23-24). On January 25, 2016, Petitioner, 

moved to sever his offenses for trial. (Id. at 14). In support of his Motion, Petitioner stated that 

the grand larceny charge was a separate and distinct charge from the escape and destruction of 

property charges, and that if tried together, it would cause substantial prejudice and confuse the 

jury. (Id.). Petitioner specifically requested that the circuit court "sever the charges as requested 

in this motion and require the State of West Virginia to elect which particular count/s] that the 

State wishes to try in the first trial." (Id.). (emphasis added). After hearing argument, the 

circuit court granted the Motion to Sever. (App. Vol. II at 3-7). Without any objection on the 

record from Petitioner, indeed at his express request, the State elected to try the escape and 

destruction of property charges first. (ld. at 7). 

3. First Trial - Escape and Destruction of Property 

On January 27,2016, Petitioner proceeded to trial by jury on the escape and destruction 

of property charges. (App. Vol. II at 1). The State called four (2) witnesses: Lt. Brian Rader 

and Sgt. Sarah Farnsworth. (Id. at 2). Lt. Rader testified that he was a lieutenant of the home 

confinement division of the Wood County Sheriffs Department. (ld.). He further testified that 

he supervised Petitioner as a condition of bond for grand larceny to place him on home 

confinement. (Id.). The State placed Petitioner on home confinement as a condition of bail and 
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then he violated the tenns of that home confinement. (ld. at 96). Petitioner had a GPS ankle 

monitoring bracelet. (Id. at 92). Lt. Rader testified that on July 1, 2015, he received an alert on 

his cell phone that the strap had been cut from Petitioner's monitoring bracelet. (Id.). After 

receiving the alert, Lt. Rader drove towards the Petitioner's residence where he observed 

Petitioner standing in between two residences a few blocks away from his home talking to a 

male. (Id. at 93,97). At that point, Petitioner turned around, saw Lt. Rader, and ran. (Id.). Lt. 

Rader parked his vehicle and got out. (Id. at 93). He proceeded to chase after Petitioner. (Id. at 

94). Lt. Rader did not catch Petitioner, but knew he was later caught by another individual and 

arrested. (ld.). 

Next, the State called Sgt. Sarah Farnsworth. (App. Vol. II at 102). Sgt. Farnsworth 

testified that she was a home confinement officer for the Wood County Sheriff Department. 

(Id.). She also had the opportunity to supervise Petitioner as a condition of bond for grand 

larceny to place him on home confinement. (!d. at 103). She testified that on July 1,2015, she 

similarly received an alert that Petitioner's monitoring bracelet had been tampered with. (ld.). 

Sgt. Farnsworth arrived at Petitioner's residence first; an unknown female greeted her. (Id. at 

104). Sgt. Farnsworth did not see Petitioner at the residence at that time. (Id.). The female 

allowed her to search the residence. (Id.). During the search Sgt. Farnsworth found a cut 

monitoring bracelet on the mantel. (Id.). She testified that the value of the strap that was cut was 

less than $1,000.00. (Id. at 110). 

At the close of the State's case, Petitioner moved for judgment of acquittal on three (3) 

bases: (1) no evidence on the actual value of the monitoring bracelet, (2) no evidence that 

Petitioner was lawfully placed on GPS monitoring as a condition of bond, and (3) no evidence 

that anyone saw Petitioner cut the monitoring bracelet strap. (App. Vol. II at 113-15). The State 
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orally responded and the circuit court denied the motion for judgment of acquittal. (Jd. at 119

20). Petitioner chose not to testify on his own behalf. (Id. at 122-23). The defense chose to 

briefly call the same two (2) witnesses as the State and then rested. (Id. at 123-28). 

The circuit court excused the jury and discussed the proposed jury instructions with 

counsel and Petitioner. (App. Vol. II at 128-31). The court specifically noted that it added the 

word "intentional" to the instructions for both the escape charge and the destruction of property 

charge.. (Id. at 128-29). Counsel made no objections at this time to the jury instructions. (Id. at 

129). After deliberations, the jury found Petitioner guilty of escape and destruction of property. 

(Id. at 160).1 

4. Motion for aNew Trial 

On August 14, 2016, Petitioner filed a Motion for a New Trial. (App. Vol. I at 16-22). 

Petitioner argued that new evidence had been discovered that required a new trial on the escape 

and destruction of property charges. (Id.). The circuit court heard oral arguments on Petitioner's 

Motion for a New Trial. (Vol. III at 2-8). Specifically, Petitioner argued that he obtained 

medical record evidence that showed he was intoxicated on the day the escape and destruction of 

property occurred. (Id. at 2-3). Petitioner further argued that, due to his intoxication, this should 

have been a mitigating factor in the original trial. (Id. at 5). The State responded that this was 

not new evidence, but as it existed at the time of the original trial. (Id. at 4). Additionally, the 

State argued that voluntary intoxication is not a defense to general intent crimes, such as escape 

and destruction ofproperty.2 (Jd. at 4-5). The circuit court denied Petitioner's Motion for a New 

1 Shortly after the flrst trial, Petitioner's counsel withdrew and new counsel was appointed. Pet'r's Brief 
at 2. 

2 Petitioner argued to the circuit court that escape and destruction of property are speciflc intent crimes. 
(App. Vol. ill at 5). However, he cited no case law or other authority to support this position. (Jd.). 
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Trial. (Id. at 8). Specifically, the court found that the element of intent in a crime does not 

necessarily make it a specific intent crime. (ld. at 6). The court further found that the evidence 

was not newly discovered and was in existence and available to defense counsel at the time of 

the original trial. (Id. at 6). 

5. Second Trial- Grand Larceny 

On September 28, 2016, Petitioner proceeded to trial by jury on the grand larceny charge. 

(App. Vol. I at 9). The jury convicted Petitioner of petit larceny, a lessor included charge. (Id.). 

6. Sentencing 

On November 4,2016, the circuit court held a sentencing hearing.3 (App. Vol. I at 1-4). 

During the hearing, the circuit court determined that Petitioner and his counsel had the 

"opportunity to read and discuss the pre-sentence investigation report and the supplemental 

report/addendum." (Id. at 1). Furthermore, the circuit court gave the Petitioner an "opportunity 

to present evidence, [gave] defense counsel the opportunity to speak on behalf of the [Petitioner] 

and asked the [Petitioner] personally if he wished to make a statement on his own behalf and to 

present any information in mitigation of punishment." (Id.). The circuit court also gave the 

State an opportunity to present evidence and to speak to the court. (Id.). Petitioner was present 

during the hearing and made comments on the record. (Id.). For Count One, the lessor included 

offense of petit larceny, the circuit court ordered that Petitioner serve a term of one (1) year. (Id. 

at 2). For Count Two, escape, the circuit court ordered that Petitioner serve a term of three (3) 

years. (Id.). For Count Three, destruction of property, the circuit court ordered that Petitioner 

3 Significantly, at the time of the Notice of Appeal, Petitioner did not allege an assignment of error 
regarding sentencing. As such, when discussing which documents to include in the Appendix, counsel 
for the State did not request the sentencing transcript. However, the State did request any orders, 
motions, responses, or transcripts which relate to assignments of error which were not raised in the Notice 
ofAppeal that Petitioner planned on pursuing upon perfection of the case. Petitioner ultimately added an 
additional assignment of error regarding sentencing and did not include any portion of the sentencing 
hearing transcript in the Appendix to this appeal. 
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serve a tenn of six (6) months. (Id.). The court ordered the two misdemeanor charges to be 

served concurrently with each other, and the felony escape charge to be served consecutively. 

(Id.). The circuit court further ordered that Petitioner pay restitution. (Id. at 2-3). Thereafter, 

Petitioner filed the instant notice of appeal on December 2, 2016. (Id. at 4). Petitioner now 

seeks an order from this Court reversing Petitioner's conviction, setting aside, or granting a new 

trial on Counts Two (2) and Three (3). Pet'r's Br. at 13. For the reasons discussed herein, 

Petitioner has failed to establish that the circuit court erred. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Petitioner's claims must be rejected. First, Petitioner's sentence is not disproportionate 

and his attack is deficient. Petitioner failed to fully brief this issue on the relevant case law and 

therefore, it should be denied. However, if this Court reaches the merits of this claim, the 

statutory language is abundantly clear that one can be convicted of a felony escape, when at the 

time of the escape the individual is either charged with or convicted of a felony. As such, 

Petitioner's sentence is within statutory limits and no impermissible factor was used in 

detennining his sentence. Additionally, given the circumstances and nature of Petitioner's 

conduct, his three (3) year sentence neither shocks the conscience, nor is it objectively 

disproportionate. 

Second, the circuit court did not err when it allowed the State to elect which charge(s) it 

wished to proceed to trial first. Significantly, in the underlying proceedings, Petitioner failed to 

object at any point to allowing the State to elect. In fact, Petitioner invited the State to pick. 

Even assuming he did not invite this (and he did), he certainly did not object. As such, Petitioner 

failed to preserve this issue for appeal. Given that, there was no plain error. Petitioner cites to 
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absolutely no authority for his position, except for a broad due process allegation which is fatally 

ambiguous. 

Lastly, the circuit court did not err when it denied Petitioner's Motion for a New Trial 

based upon "newly discovered" evidence. The record clearly establishes that this "newly 

discovered" evidence was not only in existence at the time of the original trial, but was made 

known to the court and all parties at least six (6) months prior to the trial. Furthermore, 

Petitioner can neither show that he was diligent in procuring this evidence nor that a different 

result would be likely at a new trial. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

The issues raised in Petitioner's assignments of error are largely covered by settled law. 

Given the clear statutory language and ample authority in other jurisdictions, Respondent does 

not believe that oral argument is necessary to resolve the question in Petitioner's first assignment 

of error. Furthermore, the facts are straightforward, the legal arguments are adequately presented 

in the parties' briefs, and the Court can easily glean the applicable standard from persuasive 

authority. Were the Court inclined to agree, a memorandum decision would be appropriate. 

However, Respondent acknowledges that it may be appropriate to conduct oral argument, 

pursuant to Rule 20(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. 

ARGUMENT 

1. 	 Petitioner's sentence is within the limits defmed by statute and constitutionally 
proportionate to the crime for which Petitioner was convicted. 

A. 	Standard ofreview. 

This Court reviews sentencing orders "under a deferential abuse of discretion standard, 

unless the order violates statutory or constitutional commands." State v. Slater, 222 W. Va. 499, 

507-08,665 S.E.2d 674, 682-83 (2008) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Lucas, 201 W. Va. 271,496 
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S.E.2d 221 (1997)). However, a sentence which is within statutory limits and not based on an 

impermissible factor is generally not subject to appellate review. Slater, 222 W. Va. at 507-08, 

665 S.E.2d at 682-83 (concluding that the Court could not review the appellant's sentence 

because ''the sentence imposed for each conviction [wa]s within the statutory limit and the 

appellant ... identified no impermissible factor upon which his sentence [wa]s based"); Syl. Pt. 

4, State v. Goodnight, 169 W. Va. 366,287 S.E.2d 504 (1982). 

B. Petitioner failed to adequately briefthe issue. 

Petitioner alleges his sentence is disproportionate to his offense thereby violating Article 

III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution and the Eighth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution. Pet'r's Brief at 5-8. In support, he submits that, because he was convicted of only 

a misdemeanor, he should not be convicted of and sentenced to felony escape.4 Id. He offers no 

analysis regarding this Court's traditional case law regarding disproportionate sentences. Id. 

From a pleading standpoint, this Court has made clear that the failure to adequately 

address an assignment of error is sufficient grounds for it to deny the requested relief. State v. 

JS., 233 W. Va. 198,204, 757 S.E.2d 622,628 (2014) (quoting State v. White, 228 W.Va. 530, 

541 n. 9, 722 S.E.2d 566, 577 n. 9 (2011) ("Typically, this Court will not address issues that 

have not been properly briefed."); see also State v. LaRock, 196 W.Va. 294, 302, 470 S.E.2d 

613, 621 (1996) ("Although we liberally construe briefs in determining issues presented for 

4 To the extent that Petitioner is attempting to argue that he was not actually in custody in order to be 
prosecuted under the escape statute, Petitioner wholly fails to cite to any case law or other authority to 
support this position. See generally Pet'r's Brief. As such, he has failed to adequately address an issue 
which is sufficient grounds for this Court to deny the requested relief. See State v. J.S., 233 W. Va. 198, 
204, 757 S.E.2d 622, 628 (2014); State v. LaRock, 196 W.Va. 294, 302, 470 S.E.2d 613, 621 (1996); 
State, Dep't ofHealth & Human Res., Child Advocate Office v. Robert Morris N, 195 W.Va. 759, 765, 
466 S.E.2d 827,833 (1995). Additionally, this Court has held that "[t]he term custody is defined as being 
'very elastic and may mean actual imprisonment or physical detention or mere power, legal or physical, 
of imprisoning or of taking manual possession.'" Craigo v. Legursky, 183 W. Va. 678, 680, 398 S.E.2d 
160, 162 (1990) (internal citations omitted). 
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review, issues which are not raised, and those mentioned only in passing but [which] are not 

supported with pertinent authority, are not considered on appeal."); State, Dep't of Health & 

Human Res., Child Advocate Office v. Robert Morris N, 195 W.Va. 759, 765,466 S.E.2d 827, 

833 (1995) ("[A] skeletal 'argument,' really nothing more than an assertion, does not preserve a 

claim[.]" (internal quotations and citations omitted)). 

These cases strongly suggest that a party should discuss-or at least address-the 

relevant legal tests implicated in a given assignment of error. Particularly germane to this 

assignment of error are the two tests used to evaluate claims of constitutionally disproportionate 

sentences. Indeed, this Court previously recognized that "[t]here are two tests to determine 

whether a sentence is so disproportionate to a crime that it violates our constitution." State v. 

Cooper, 172 W. Va. 266, 272, 304 S.E.2d 851, 857 (1983); see also State v. Allen, 208 W. Va. 

144, 156 n.l9, 539 S.E.2d 87, 99 n.19 (1999) (recognizing the same). "The first [test] is 

subjective and asks whether the sentence for the particular crime shocks the conscience of the 

court and society. If a sentence is so offensive that it cannot pass a societal and judicial sense of 

justice, the inquiry need not proceed further." Cooper, 172 W. Va. at 272, 304 S.E.2d at 857. 

When the sentence does not meet this standard, 

a disproportionality challenge is guided by the objective test we spelled out in 
Syllabus Point 5 of Wanstreet v. Bordenkircher, 166 W.Va. 523, 276 S.E.2d 205 
(1981): In determining whether a given sentence violates the proportionality 
principle found in Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution, 
consideration is given to the nature of the offense, the legislative purpose behind 
the punishment, a comparison of the punishment with what would be inflicted in 
other jurisdictions, and a comparison with other offenses within the same 
jurisdi cti on. 

Jd.; see also Allen, 208 W. Va. at 156 n.19, 539 S.E.2d at 99 n.19 (recognizing the same). 

Petitioner's utter failure to discuss the tests expressly employed by this Court in cases 

involving claims of a constitutionally disproportionate sentence should result in this Court's 
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refusal to entertain this claim in this appeal under the rationale set forth in LaRock, and Robert 

Morris N., supra. 

C. 	 Petitioner's sentence is within statutory limits and no impermissible factor was 
used. 

In the event this Court determines it is necessary to address the substance of Petitioner's 

first assignment of error, the record establishes that his claim still fails for several reasons. First, 

Petitioner's sentence is within the legal limits, and Petitioner does not assert that his sentence 

was based upon an impermissible factor. Pet'r's Br. at 5-8. Therefore, this Court should decline 

to review Petitioner's sentence because he has failed to assert any reviewable sentencing error. 

See Slater, 222 W. Va. at 508, 665 S.E.2d at 683 (holding that "[w]e deem it generally to be the 

better practice to decline to review sentences that are within statutory limits and where no 

impermissible sentence factor is indicated in accord with Syllabus Point 4 of State v. 

Goodnight"). 

At the time of Petitioner's escape, he was charged with violating West Virginia Code § 

61-5-10. West Virginia Code § 61-5-10 provides: 

Whoever escapes or attempts to escape by any means from the 
custody of a county sheriff, the director of the regional jail 
authority, an authorized representative of said persons, a law
enforcement officer, probation officer, employee of the division of 
corrections, court bailiff, or from any institution, facility or any 
alternative sentence confinement, by which he or she is lawfully 
confined, if the custody or confinement is by virtue ofa charge or 
conviction for a felony, is guilty ofa felony and, upon conviction 
thereof, shaU be confined in a correctional facility for not more 
than five years; and if the custody or confinement is by virtue of a 
charge or conviction for a misdemeanor, is guilty of a 
misdemeanor and, upon conviction thereof, he or she shall be 
confined in a county or regional jail for not more than one year. 

W. Va. Code § 61-5-10 (West 2017) (emphasis added). While this Court has never specifically 

addressed the question of whether an individual can be convicted of felony escape under West 
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Virginia Code § 61-5-10 when at the time of the escape, the individual was on home 

confinement as a condition of bond for a felony charge and that felony charge was later 

adjudicated a misdemeanor, the statutory language is absolutely clear. 

The clear and unambiguous statutory language found in West Virginia Code § 61-5-10 

indicates that in order to be convicted of felony escape one must either be charged with a felony 

or convicted of a felony at the time of the escape. See State v. Saunders, 219 W. Va. 570, 574, 

638 S.E.2d 173, 177 (2006) ("It is axiomatic that 'where the disjunctive "or" is used, it ordinarily 

connotes an alternative between the two [or more] clauses it connects. "') (quoting State v. 

Taylor, 176 W.Va. 671, 675, 346 S.E.2d 822, 825 (1986)); Carper v. Kanawha Banking & Trust 

Co., 157 W.Va. 477, 517,207 S.E.2d 897,921 (1974) ("Recognizing the obvious, the normal use 

of the disjunctive 'or' in a statute connotes an alternative or option to select"); see also, e.g., 

United States v. Forbes, 806 F. Supp. 232, 235 (D. Colo. 1992) ("As a matter of simple 

grammar, when an "or" is placed before the last term in a series, each term in the series is usually 

intended to be disjunctive"); Ringwood v. State, 8 Utah 2d 287, 289, 333 P.2d 943, 944 (1959) 

(holding that when "words [are] used in series, [and] the only connective [is] the disjunctive 'or,' 

it applies to the whole series"). The disjunctive definition of terms evinced a legislative intent to 

punish alternate means of committing the same offense (i.e. an individual who escapes while 

either charged with a felony or convicted of a felony at the time of the escape is charged with 

felony escape). 

Petitioner contends that "the legislative intent of the present day [ escape] statue does not 

contemplate situations like Petitioner's where a person could be found guilty of a felony and be 

placed into prison pursuant to W. Va. Code 61-5-10 when his underlying conviction was not a 
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felony." Pet'r's Brief at 8. Petitioner is wrong. As discussed above, the legislative intent is 

absolutely clear that it intends for exactly the type ofsituations as faced here. 

Moreover, while this Court has not specifically discussed this particular issue, other 

jurisdictions have. In Com. v. Stoppard, 2014 Pa.Super. 248, 103 A.3d 120 (2014), the 

defendant appealed his sentence. He was found guilty on charges of felony escape and flight to 

avoid apprehension after a bench trial. Id. at 121. The defendant received a sentence of twenty

seven (27) months to five (5) years in a state correctional facility. Id. Defendant was initially 

charged with felony burglary and conspiracy offenses, as well as misdemeanor theft and 

conspiracy offenses for allegedly taking metal drums from a residential carport. Id. He was then 

charged with felony escape and flight to avoid apprehension pursuant to the original charges. Id. 

At some point after he escaped, the felony burglary and conspiracy charges were withdrawn. /d. 

at 122. The defendant then filed a motion to regrade the escape and flight charges from felonies 

to misdemeanors. Id. The Commonwealth responded that the escape and flight charges "should 

remain felonies as Defendant was charged with the felony Burglary offenses at the time he fled . 

. . and that the subsequent withdrawal of those charges did not affect the grading of the Escape 

and Flight charges." Id. at 122-23. The trial court denied the defendant's motion. Id. at 123. 

He then appealed. Id. In affirming the court below, the court reasoned that "in grading the 

offense of escape, we must look to the conduct of the accused at the time the escape is attempted 

or realized together with only those facts which are known to the parties at that time." Id. at 123

24 (internal citations omitted). 

Furthermore, the federal escape statute contains similar disjunctive language. The federal 

escape statute provides that: 

Whoever escapes or attempts to escape from the custody of the 
Attorney General or his authorized representative, or from any 
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institution or facility in which he is confined by direction of the 
Attorney General, or from any custody under or by virtue of any 
process issued under the laws of the United States by any court, 
judge, or magistrate judge, or from the custody of an officer or 
employee of the United States pursuant to lawful arrest, shall, if 
the custody or confinement is by virtue of an arrest on a charge 
offelony, or conviction ofany offense, be fined under this title or 
imprisoned not more than five years, or both; or if the custody or 
confinement is for extradition, or for exclusion or expulsion 
proceedings under the immigration laws, or by virtue of an arrest 
or charge of or for a misdemeanor, and prior to conviction, be 
fined under this title or imprisoned not more than one year, or both~ 

18 U.S.C. § 751 (West 2017) (emphasis added). Much like the modem day West Virginia statute 

at issue in this matter, under federal law, the nature of the custody must be proven specifically, 

since the statute provides for dual penalties: escape is a felony if custody was by reason of any 

conviction or a felony arrest, but only a misdemeanor if custody was by reason of a misdemeanor 

arrest or for extradition or expulsion. See United States v. Vanover, 888 F.2d 1117, 1121 (6th 

Cir. 1989); United States v. Green, 797 F.2d 855, 858 n.4 (lOth Cir. 1986); United States v. 

Edrington, 726 F.2d 1029, 1031 (5th Cir. 1984); United States v. Richardson, 687 F.2d 952, 958 

(7th Cir. 1982). 

Petitioner improperly relies on two previous West Virginia cases to support his position. 

Specifically, he relies on State ex reI. Robinson v. Boles, 149 W. Va. 516, 142 S.E.2d 55 (l965) 

and State v. Pishner, 73 W. Va. 744, 81 S.E. 1046 (1914). Pet'r's Brief at 5-8. These two cases 

are clearly distinguishable from the present matter. In Pishner and Boles, the respective 

petitioners were convicted under a previous version of the escape statute. Specifically, the 

statute that the Pishner and Boles petitioners were convicted under provided: 

A person confined in jail on conviction of a criminal offense, who 
escapes thence by force or violence, shall be confined in the 
penitentiary one year, if previously sentenced to confinement 
therein, or be confined in jail six months, if previously sentenced 
to confinement in jail; the term of confinement under this section 
to commence from the expiration of the former sentence. 

14 



Pishner, 73 W. Va. at_, 81 S.E. at 1047. 

As such, the escape statute in Pishner and Boles is categorically different from the 

modem day escape statute. Specifically, under the previous statute, an individual must have 

been convicted of a criminal offense rather than "charged or convicted." The addition of the 

language "charged or convicted" changes the meaning of the statute for the purposes of the 

instant appeal. Specifically, in both Pishner and Boles, this Court reasoned that the petitioners 

could not be convicted of escape because they had void judgments. The previous statute 

required a judgment. However, the modem day escape statute requires something entirely 

different: a charge or conviction. As discussed above, the addition of the words "charge" and 

the disjunctive "or" demonstrate the intent of the statute to apply as to what the individual's 

actions were at the time of the escape. Therefore, this Court's reasoning in those two cases is not 

dispositive of the issue faced in the instant matter. 

D. 	 The proportionality standards should not apply to Petitioner's sentence. 

Second, the proportionality standards should not apply to Petitioner's sentence. This 

Court will not apply the proportionality principles when a case "involves neither the possibility 

of unlimited sentences nor a life recidivist statute." Allen, 208 W. Va. at 156, 539 S.E.2d at 99. 

It is undisputed that Petitioner's sentence is subject to a fixed maximum set by statute and that 

there is no possibility of a life recidivist sentence. Accordingly, this Court should not conduct a 

proportionality review of Petitioner's sentence. 

E. 	 Petitioner's sentence does not shock the conscience and it is not obje~tively 
disproportionate. 

Lastly, even if this Court engages in such a review, Petitioner's argument nonetheless 

fails as a matter oflaw. Petitioner's sentence neither "shocks the conscience," nor does it satisfy 
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the factors established in Syllabus Point 5 of Wanstreet v. Bordenkircher, 166 W.Va. 523, 276 

S.E.2d 205 (1981).5 Simply put, his sentence is proportionate to his criminal conduct. 

Specifically, as discussed above Petitioner's sentence was proper from a statutory 

standpoint. He was convicted of felony escape which carries a statutorily prescribed sentence of 

up to five (5) years. Here, Petitioner only received three (3) years. That is well within the 

statutory limits. Moreover, while the Court ordered these sentences to run consecutively, the 

decision of whether to run multiple sentences concurrently or consecutively is generally within 

the discretion of the trial court. See Sy1. Pt. 3, Keith v. Leverette, 163 W. Va. 98, 254 S.E.2d 700 

(1979). 

Furthermore, the two tests, discussed supra set forth the relevant standards. As to the 

subjective test-which "asks whether the sentence for the particular crime shocks the conscience 

of the court and society"-the record here shows that while Petitioner was on home confinement 

facing a charge of grand larceny, did heroin, pills, and other drugs; he cut the strap of his home 

monitoring bracelet; he left his residence without any approval from the home confinement 

officers; and, when he saw the officers come for him, he ran. The circuit court found that given 

the "character and the circumstances of the case, [it is indicated] that [Petitioner] is likely to 

again commit crime and that the public good does require that [he] be imprisoned. (Vol. I at 2). 

Given the serious nature of the offenses it cannot be said that the sentence offends a "societal and 

judicial sense ofjust ice." Cooper, 172 W. Va. at 272,304 S.E.2d at 857. Particularly when the 

court sentenced him to three (3) years instead ofthe possible five (5) years. 

Application of the second test to the matter at hand leads to the same result. The nature of 

Petitioner's offenses is severe: he violated the terms of his home confinement in numerous ways 

5 Without knowing what Petitioner's arguments are regarding the proportionality tests and not having the 
sentencing hearing transcript, counsel is at a disadvantage in fully briefmg this issue. However, pursuant 
to this Court's rules, Respondent attempts to fully respond to Petitioner's assignment of error. 
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and ultimately fled and ran from the officers while grand larceny charges were pending against 

him. Regarding the second factor, the legislature thoughtfully and purposefully imposed a 

sentence ofup to five (5) years for individuals who escape while charged with a felony. Finally, 

other jurisdictions hold similar penalties upon conviction of escape charges. For example, in 

Kentucky, "a person is guilty of escape in the second degree when he escapes from a detention 

facility or, being charged with or convicted of a felony, he escapes from custody." Ky. Rev. 

Stat. § 520.030 (West 2017). This is a Class D felony and holds a sentence of not less than (1) 

year, nor more than five (5) years. Id.; Ky. Rev. Stat. § 532.060 (West 2017). Consequently, 

Petitioner's sentence does not violate Article III, Section 5 of the West Virginia Constitution or 

the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

2. 	 The Circuit Court properly allowed the State to proceed on the escape and 
destruction of property charges prior to the grand larceny charge. 

Significantly, Petitioner, with the aid of counsel, moved to sever the escape and 

destruction of property charges from the grand larceny charge. (App. I at 14). Specifically, in 

Petitioner's own Motion for Severance of Offenses, he requested that the circuit court "sever the 

charges ... and require the State of West Virginia to elect which particular counts that the State 

wishes to try in the first tria!." (Id.). Furthennore, on the morning of the first trial date, the 

circuit court held a pre-trial hearing on the Motion to Sever Offenses. (App. Vol. II at 3). The 

circuit court ultimately granted the motion and severed the two trials and asked the State to elect 

which charge(s) it wished to proceed on first. (Jd. at 6). The State responded that it wished to 

proceed on the escape and destruction of property charges first. (Id. at 7). At no point did 

Petitioner or his counsel object to allowing the State to elect on which charge to proceed with 

first or the fact that the State elected to proceed with the escape and destruction of property 
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charges first, which makes sense given that Petitioner requested the State to pick in the first 

instance. (Id. at 6-7). 

Petitioner invited the State to select the order of the charges. He cannot now complain 

about it on appeal. This Court has previously held that '" a judgment will not be reversed for any 

error in the record introduced by or invited by the party seeking reversal.' Syllabus Point 21, 

State v. Riley, 151 W. Va. 364, 151 S.E.2d 308 (1966), overruled on other grounds by Proudfoot 

v. Dan's Marine Service, Inc., 210 W. Va. 498, 558 S.E.2d 298 (2001)." State v. Corder, No. 

16-0237,2017 WL 678862, at *2 (W. Va. Feb. 21, 2017) (memorandum decision) (quoting Syl. 

Pt. 3, Hopkins v. DC Chapman Ventures, Inc., 228 W. Va. 213, 719 S.E.2d 381 (2011) (per 

curiam)). This alone is dispositive. Even then, because Petitioner failed to object at any point in 

the underlying proceedings and preserve his claim, he cannot now object on appeal, unless 

perhaps, by arguing application of the "plain error" doctrine, which permits this Court, at its 

discretion, to review claims not properly preserved below. See State v. Miller, 194 W. Va. 3,459 

S.E.2d 114 (1995); see also See Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Byer, 159 W. Va. 596, 224 S.E.2d 726 (1976) 

("This Court will not consider an error which is not preserved in the record nor apparent on the 

face of the record"). 

Petitioner did not advance such an argument in his brief. See generally Pet'r's Brief. 

Thus, this Court should deny Petitioner's claim regarding allowing the State to elect to proceed 

which count(s) to try first because it has not been properly briefed. See State ex rei. Mullins v. 

Rubenstein, No. 16-0046, 2017 WL 944056, at *5 (W. Va. Mar. 10, 2017) (memorandum 

decision) (refusing to address an issue that had not be properly briefed or supported). However, 

assuming arguendo, that the Court wishes to proceed with a plain error review, Petitioner's claim 

still fails. This Court has held that "[t]o be 'plain,' the error must be 'clear' or 'obvious.'" See 
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State ex reI. Mullins, No. 16-0046,2017 WL 944056, at *5. "To trigger application of the "plain 

error" doctrine, there must be (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and 

(4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings." Syl. 

Pt. 7, Miller, 194 W. Va. 3,459 S.E.2d 114. If an error is "plain," the last step is to determine 

whether it affected the substantial rights of the defendant. Syl. Pt. 9, ld. To affect a defendant's 

substantial rights, the error "must have affected the outcome of the proceedings in the circuit 

court, and the defendant rather than the prosecutor bears the burden of persuasion with respect to 

prejudice." ld. 

Here, there was no error. Petitioner failed to cite to any case law that supports his 

contention that the State should not be allowed to elect which charge to proceed to trial first. See 

generally Pet'r's Brief. Rule 14 of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure clearly 

provides that "the court may order an election or separate trial of the counts or provide whatever 

other relief justice requires." W. Va. R. Crim. P. 14 (2006). Not only did Petitioner not object to 

the State's election at any point in the underlying proceedings, but also the Petitioner's own 

Motion to Sever asked the State "to elect which particular counts that the State wishes to try in 

the first trial." (App. Vol. I at 14). Petitioner's counsel further acknowledged at the pre-trial 

hearing that the Petitioner did not need to be convicted of grand larceny to be tried for escape. 

(App. Vol. II at 4-6). Moreover, the State's election did not affect any outcome of the 

proceedings. As discussed more fully above, Petitioner was properly sentenced pursuant to the 

clear and unambiguous statutory language of the escape statute. The statutory language makes 

clear that the only issue that matters when deciding whether to charge an individual with a 

misdemeanor escape or felony escape is what they were either charged with or convicted of at 
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the time of the escape. As such, it did not matter which charges the State proceeded to try 

against Petitioner first. Therefore, Petitioner's claim must be denied. 

3. 	 The Circuit Court properly denied Petitioner's Motion for a New Trial on the 
escape and destruction of property charges. 

A. 	 Standard ofreview. 

A circuit court's ruling on a motion for a new trial is reviewed for abuse of discretion. 

See Syl. pt. 1, Burke-Parsons-Bowlby Corp. v. Rice, 230 W. Va. 105, 736 S.E.2d 338 (2012); see 

also State v. William M., 225 W. Va. 256, 260, 692 S.E.2d 299, 303 (2010) ("This Court has 

indicated that as a general proposition, it will review a circuit court's ruling on a motion for a 

new trial under an abuse of discretion standard."); State v. Crouch, 191 W. Va. 272, 275, 445 

S.E.2d 213, 216 (1994) ("The question of whether a new trial should be granted is within the 

discretion of the trial court and is reviewable only in the case of abuse."). 

West Virginia Rule of Criminal Procedure 33 authorizes a circuit court to grant a criminal 

defendant a new trial if doing so would be "in the interest of justice." W. Va. R. Crim. P. 33. 

Courts have long recognized that the interests of justice may be implicated by the discovery of 

exculpatory evidence after the conclusion of a criminal trial which resulted in a conviction. See, 

e.g., United States v. Johnson, 327 U.S. 106, 112 (1946) (explaining that a motion for a new trial 

is intended to provide an avenue for relief "where despite the fair conduct of the trial, it later 

clearly appears to the trial judge that because of facts unknown at the time of trial, substantial 

justice was not done."). However, the mere discovery of potentially exculpatory evidence does 

not automatically entitle a convicted defendant to new proceedings. Cf Giglio v. United States, 

405 U.S. 150, 154 (1972) ("We do not, however, automatically require a new trial whenever a 

combing of the prosecutor[']s files after the trial has disclosed evidence possibly useful to the 

defense ....") (internal quotation marks omitted); Dist. Attorney's Office for Third Judicial Dist. 
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v. Osborne, 557 U.S. 52, 69 (2009) (explaining that "once a defendant has been afforded a fair 

trial and convicted of the offense for which he was charged . . . [he] has been constitutionally 

deprived of his liberty ... and has only a limited interest in postconviction relief") (internal 

citations and quotation marks omitted). Instead, courts - balancing the judicial system's interest 

in efficiency and finality against the possibility that an innocent individual has been wrongly 

convicted - require defendants seeking a new trial to demonstrate that any newly-discovered 

evidence is material, compelling, and that it was diligently pursued and acquired. 

It is well-established that a five-part test is used to evaluate whether or not a new trial 

predicated on newly-discovered evidence is warranted. Syl. Pt. 1, Halstead v. Horton, 38 W. Va. 

727, 18 S.E. 953 (1894). As articulated in Halstead, a new trial will not be granted unless the 

movant can demonstrate that: 

(1) The evidence [has] been discovered since the trial, and 	... [the movant has 
proffered specifically] what [the] evidence will be ... ; 

(2) [He] 	was diligent in ascertaining and securing his evidence, and that the new 
evidence is such that due diligence would not have secured it before the verdict; 

(3) [The] evidence [is] new and material, and not merely cumulative; 
(4) The evidence [is] such as ought to produce an opposite result at a second trial on 

the merits; 
(5) [T]he sole object of the new evidence is [not] to discredit or impeach a witness 

on the opposite side. 

!d. This test was expressly held to be applicable in criminal cases in State v. Frazier, 162 W. Va. 

935,941,253 S.E.2d 534,537 (1979). 

This standard - often referred to, in criminal cases, as the Frazier test - is not easily 

satisfied. See State v. King, 173 W. Va. 164, 164,313 S.E.2d 440,441 (1984) (per curiam) ("'A 

new trial on the ground of after-discovered evidence or newly discovered evidence is very 

seldom granted and the circumstances must be unusual or special. "') (quoting Syl. Pt. 9, State v. 

Hamric, 151 W.Va. 1, 151 S.E.2d 252 (1966»; see also Acord v. Colane Co., 228 W. Va. 291, 
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304, 719 S.E.2d 761, 774 (2011) (per curiam) ("A party seeking to have a judgment set aside 

based on newly discovered evidence has a significant burden."). Importantly, "[a]ll five factors 

must be proven before a new trial will be awarded." Anstey v. Ballard, 237 w. Va. 411, 787 

S.E.2d 864, 875 (2016). Here, it is readily apparent that Petitioner cannot satisfy the first, 

second, or fourth prongs of Frazier. As the inability to satisfy anyone of the Frazier factors is 

dispositive, Petitioner's claim that the circuit court erred when it denied his motion for a new 

trial necessarily fails. 

B. 	 The purported "newly-discovered" evidence upon which Petitioner's motion is 
predicated is not actually newly-discoveretL 

The first prong ofFrazier plainly requires that the evidence which a defendant proffers as 

"newly-discovered" must not have been available at trial. Syl. Pt. 1, in part, Frazier, 162 W. Va. 

at 935, 253 S.E.2d at 534 ("The evidence must appear to have been discovered since the trial ... 

. "); see also Crouch, 191 W. Va. at 276, 445 S.E.2d at 217 ("[I]f evidence could have been 

procured with due diligence before the verdict, then a new trial based on after-discovered 

evidence is not warranted."). Petitioner contends that "[t]he issue of the Petitioner's intoxication 

did not come to the Court's attention until after trial on the [e]scape and [d]estruction of property 

charges." Pet'r's Brief at 12. This statement is wrong. 

Petitioner's intoxication level was not only available at the time of trial, but it was 

directly addressed in the State's Motion to Revoke Wood County Home Confinement that was 

filed six (6) months prior to the trial on the escape and destruction of property charges. (App. 

Vol. I at 11). The State's Motion explicitly stated that directly after his arrest for escape, 

Petitioner told the Holding Center personnel that he had "taken some nerve pills and heroin 

earlier." (Jd.). Petitioner was then taken to a local medical center for medical clearance, which 

included testing of a urine specimen. (ld.). The State's Motion further stated that Petitioner told 
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the staff at the hospital that "he had done heroin before he went to bed last night and taken some 

klonopin that was not prescribed to him." (Id.). On August 17,2015, Petitioner admitted to the 

allegations in the Motion to Revoke Home Confinement. (Id. at 6). The circuit court further 

noted that this evidence "was in existence and as much available to [Petitioner's counsel] as it 

was to [the State] .... it was in existence at the time of the first trial, it was known by 

everybody." (App. Vol. III at 6). Thus, it is beyond dispute that Petitioner's intoxication level

which is the only piece of evidence Petitioner argues is "newly-discovered"-was not "discovered 

since the trial." As such, Petitioner fails the first prong. 

C. Petitioner did not act with the requisite due diligence. 

Even if this Court detennines that Petitioner's intoxication level qualifies as newly

discovered evidence, Petitioner's claims still fail because he did not diligently pursue or obtain 

those results. The second prong of the Frazier test requires a party be "diligent in ascertaining 

and securing his [newly-discovered] evidence." Syl. Pt. 1, Frazier, 162 W. Va. at 935, 253 

S.E.2d at 534; see also State v. Davis, 217 W. Va. 93,97,616 S.E.2d 89, 93 (2004) (per curiam) 

(explaining that a party seeking a new trial predicated on newly-discovered evidence ''must be 

diligent in ascertaining and securing the evidence"). "For [the] purpose[] of the rule governing 

the grant or denial of a new trial on the basis of newly discovered evidence, 'due diligence' is a 

standard of reasonableness. "Due diligence means doing everything reasonable . . . [t]he 

question which must be answered is not what evidence might have been discovered, but rather 

what evidence would have been discovered by a reasonable plaintiff by persevering application, 

and untiring efforts in good earnest." Skakel v. State, 295 Conn. 447, 507, 991 A.2d 414, 449 

(2010) (internal citations, alterations, and quotation marks omitted). Whether or not a party 

seeking a new trial acted diligently is a factual question, and a circuit court's resolution of that 
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question is afforded great deference. See Crouch, 191 W. Va. at 276,445 S.E.2d at 217; cf Roe 

v. Snyder, 100 Wash. 311, 314, 170 P. 1027, 1028 (1918) ("The question of diligence is a 

question of fact to be detennined from all the attendant circumstances. Like other elements 

involved in the motion for a new trial ... it is addressed to the discretion of the trial court. The 

exercise of that discretion will not be disturbed except in cases of clear abuse."); Smith v. 

Williams, 11 Kan. 104, 105 (1873) ("A motion for a new trial on the ground of newly-discovered 

evidence involves certain questions of fact ... [t]he exercise of reasonable diligence on the part 

of the party applying is a question of fact [that] must be made ... to the satisfaction of the 

court."). 

The record in this case definitively demonstrates that Petitioner did not diligently pursue 

and acquire the evidence at issue in this case. This evidence was absolutely in existence before 

trial. As the circuit court properly found, "[t]here's no evidence or argument even that 

something occurred that would have prevented [Petitioner's counsel] from getting this 

information, knowing that this information exists, any of that stuff." (App. Vol. III at 6). At the 

time of the first trial, Petitioner's counsel knew that Petitioner had been taken to a medical 

facility for medical clearance because he admitted to doing drugs. Petitioner's counsel further 

knew that the hospital took a urine specimen for testing. Petitioner does not contest these basic 

facts.6 See generally Pet'r's Brief. As such, it is evident that the efforts expended by Petitioner 

during the first trial were not "untiring" but rather the exact opposite. Petitioner's behavior in 

this respect is the very antithesis of diligent; accordingly, he has failed to satisfy the second 

prong of the Frazier test. 

6 It should be noted that the circuit court stated that there had not been any testimony from Petitioner's 
prior trial counsel as to why he did not either procure these results or introduce the evidence at trial. (App. 
Vol. ill at 7-8). The circuit court further stated that it easily could have been Petitioner's prior trial 
counsel's "trial strategy" not to introduce this evidence because he thought "it would be unfavorable to 
the [petitioner] in the eyes of the jury ... that he had all these drugs in his system." (Jd.). 
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D. Petitioner's "newly-discovered evidence" would not produce an opposite result at a 
second triaL 

As discussed in the previous sections, Petitioner has neither identified evidence 

discovered "since trial" nor diligently pursued the evidence he claims to have "newly

discovered," and either failure standing alone provides a sufficient ground to affirm the circuit 

court's denial of his motion. Anstey, 237 W. Va. at _, 787 S.E.2d at 875 ("All five [Frazier] 

factors must be proven before a new trial will be awarded."). However, even if this Court were 

to disagree and conclude that Petitioner diligently discovered new evidence, he would still not be 

entitled to a new trial, because he cannot satisfy the fourth prong of the Frazier test, which 

requires newly-discovered to be so compelling that its introduction "ought to produce an 

opposite result at a second trial." Syl. Pt. 1, in part, Frazier, 162 W. Va. at 935, 253 S.E.2d at 

535. The evidence upon which Petitioner's motion is predicated falls short of this highly 

demanding standard. 

In his brief, Petitioner argues that the alleged "newly-discovered" evidence-Petitioner's 

intoxication-should have been introduced at the trial regarding the escape and destruction of 

property charges as a mitigating factor. Pet'r's Brief at 10-13. Specifically, Petitioner 

acknowledges that "[v]oluntary drunkenness does not ordinarily excuse a crime." Pet'r's Brief at 

11. However, Petitioner argues that voluntary drunkenness may "reduce the degree of the crime 

o[r] [negate] a specific intent." Id. Petitioner further argues that the circuit court judge 

instructed the jury that escape and destruction of property are specific intent crimes because the 

judge instructed that the jury must find each of the crimes as "intentional." Pet'r's Brief at 11

13. Petitioner's claim fails. 
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The circuit court's use of the word "intentional" in no way converts escape and 

destruction of property to specific intent crimes. 7 In United States v. Lamott, 831 F.3d 1153 

(2016), Mr. Lamott was charged with assault by strangulation and assault resulting in serious 

bodily injury. Id. at 1155. On appeal, he challenged two jury instructions given at his 

underlying trial. Id. Mr. Lamott argued that assault by strangulation was a specific intent crime, 

or even if a general intent crime, "the government converted it to a specific intent crime by 

charging in the indictment that Lamott "intentionally assaulted ...." Id. at 1158 n.1. The Court 

disagreed and reasoned that the word "intentionally" 

applies to the act itself, and serves merely to distinguish 
nonvolitional or accidental conduct. The requirement that an act 
be done 'intentionally' is a 'perfectly adequate formulation of the 
idea of general intent.' And even if we were to assume that the use 
of 'intentionally' in the indictment and jury instruction required the 
jury to find specific intent, that would be a 'a windfall for the 
defendant,' and would 'not entitle him to a diminished capacity 
defense, which is only cognizable for specific intent crimes. 

Id. 

Furthermore, simply because a crime contains the word "intentional" as an element or as 

a part of its definition, does not necessarily make it a specific intent crime. For example, battery 

is defined as intentional physical contact with force capable of causing physical pain or injury to 

the person of another or intentional causing of physical pain or injury to another person. W, Va. 

Code § 61-2-9. While the definition contains the word "intentional," it is still a general intent 

crime. See Lamott, 831 F.3d at 1157. Given these considerations, Petitioner has not proffered 

7 See State v. Balint, 426 N.W.2d 316, 316 (S.D. 1988) (holding that intentional damage to property is a 
general intent crime, to which the defense of voluntary intoxication is inapplicable). Other states have 
specifically codified that "voluntary intoxication is not a defense to a charge of escape." MD Code, 
Criminal Law, § 9-406 (West 2017). Additionally, other courts have ruled that "[ w ]hen the defmition of a 
crime consists of only the description of a particular act, without reference to do a further act or achieve a 
future consequence .... This intention is deemed to be a general criminal intent." People v. Atkins, 25 
Ca1.4th 76, 82 (2001). 
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evidence so compelling that its introduction "ought to produce an opposite result at a second 

trial." Accordingly, he has failed to establish the fourth Frazier factor, and thus the circuit court 

did not err when it denied his motion for a new trial. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, Respondent asks this Court to deny Petitioner's request 

for relief in its entirety. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA 
Plaintiff Below, Respondent 

By counsel, 

PATRICK MORRISEY 
ATTORNEY GENERAL 

~~/
Sarah B. Masse.y ~/ 
Assistant Attorney General 
812 Quarrier Street, 6th Floor 
Charleston, WV 25301 
Telephone: (304) 558-5830 
State Bar No. 12022 
Email: Sarah.B.Massey@wvago.gov 
Counsel for Respondent 

27 


mailto:Sarah.B.Massey@wvago.gov


IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


NO. 16-1128 


STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 


Plaintiffbelow, Respondent, 

v. 


MICHAEL KEITH ALLMAN, 


Defendant below, Petitioner. 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, Sarah B. Massey, Assistant Attorney General and counsel for the Respondent, do 

hereby verify that I have served a true copy of the foregoing Respondent's Brief upon the 

Petitioner by depositing said copy in the United States mail, with first-class postage prepaid, on 

this 24th day ofApril, 2017, addressed as follows: 

Richard D. Smith, Jr. 
Richard Smith Law Office 
P.O. Box 2034 
Parkersburg, WV 26102-2034 

/'
Sarah B. Massey (WVSB No. 12022) 

28 



